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.... . • .•UNITED .STA•TES

•.(•,•. , •NUCLEAR REGULAT0RY COMMISSION

•> w~ o•, • 11 RYAN PLAZA DRIVE, SUITE 4100

March 2, 2007

Brian McKenna
Radiation Safety Officer
Engineering & Inspections Hawaii, Inc.
91-110 Hanua Street, Suite 202
Kapolei, Hawaii

SUBJECT: NRC INCREASED CONTROLS INSPECTION REPORT NO. 030-36017107-002
(NRC FORM 591M)

Dear Mr. McKenna:

This letter arnd the enclosed NRC Form 591M refer to the increased controls inspection conducted
on February 8, 2007, at your facility in Kapolel, Hawaii. This inspection was conducted to verify
tihat you are effectively implementing the requirements promulgated by the Cotnmission's 'Order
Imposing Increased Controls" (EA 05-090), dated November 14, 2005. At the conclusion of the
inspection, a rinal exit briefing to discuss the inspection findings was conducted with you.

Within the scope of this inspection, no violations were identified; therefore, no response to this
letter or the enclosed NRC Form 591M is required.

The material enclosed herewith contains Security-Related Information in accordance with
10 CFR 2.390. Therefore, the material will not be made available electronically for public
inspection in the NRC Public Document Room or fro n the NRC's document system (ADAMS),
accessible from the NRC Web site at h•pL/www~nrc.g~yiJieadigrm/adams.htmL In addition, you
should protect these documents from unauthorized disclosure as described in Section IC 6 of the
Order.

Should you have any questions concerning this inspection, please contact Anthony Gaines at
817-860-8252 or me at 81 7-560-8287.

Sincer'ely,

IRA!

Vivian H. Campbell, Chief
Nuclear Materials inspection Branch

Docket No.: 030-36017
License No.: 53-27731-01

Enclosure:
NRC Form 591M Part 1

cc: Hawaii Radiation Control Program Director
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NRC FORM 591M PART I US., NUCLEAR REGULATORY COlS •ISSION

1i0 C•R 2.2,1
SAFETY INSPECT!ON REPORT AND COMPLiANCE INSPECTION

I.LCNEICAIf ,5ETt:1 N"•rC!RE- GIO30NAL OFFI•---CE ....

Enoineering & Inspections Hawaii, Inc. VS UNRC Regi~on IV
91-"110 Hanua Street. Suite 202 / 611 Ryan ~l'aza flrhte
Kapolei, Hawaii l Arlington, Texas 76011-4005J

R.EPORTf NUMBER•(S) 2007-002 1[
5. DOCKET NUf¢eiER(S) {4. LICENSEE NUMBER(S) {5. DATE(S) OF INSPECTION

030-36017 53-27731-01 L.Februaty 8, 2007

LIC2N•SEE:

The inspection was an examination of lhe activities conductedt under your license as they r'elate to radiation sater and to compliance with the
Nuciear Regutalory Commission (NR C) rules and regulations and the contditions of your license. The ins ection consisted of selective e~xaminations
of procedures anti representative records, interviews with pP~rsornel, anid observation,, by the In~spector. The inqspection findings are as relieves:

IX' Eraed on the Inspet on fndings. ovoain weredntil.

Si2, Pravlous vlolalion(s) closed,

r-" 3. The violation(s), specitically described to yo' by the inspector as non•cltad violations, ant not being cited beca•use they were selt-ida'nliioid,
.. Jnon--repelitive, and corrective action was or iz bein~g taken, an~d th•e remaining critera in the Nf C Entorcemnent Policy, NUJREG-IEO0, to

exercise (liscretion, were satislied.

.................Non-Cited Vtolation~s) was/were discussed involvng the fcllowlng re•quirement~s) an~d Corrective Action(s):

4, Durin~g this inspection cerlain of your aClivileas, as described below andlor attached, •re in violation of NRC requirements end are being,-"cited. This toin-n Is a NOTICiEOF VIOLATIONwI,h w ryoh y be subjtact to postling In accordiance' tth 10C FR 19.!11

(Violations and Corrective Actions)

Licensee's Statement of Corrective Actions for Item 4. above.
I hereby state that, within 30 days, the actions described by roe to the inspe or will be taken to correct [he violations idetntified. This statemnent of
corrective actions is made in accordance with the requirements oilJ 0 CFR L2.21 (on'ecl.i e steps atre~dy taken, corrective steps wthich will he taken.
date when full compliance, wiii be achieved). I understand that no further written response to NRC wiil be req'uired, unless spec-dJlcaily requested.

Title Pritned Nme _____Signature Date

NRC NSPETOR Anthny D Ganes RA!03t02/J2007

NRC FORMS 5ISIPART 1i ill203



NRC FORM. 69tM PART I U1.3. t'UCL•AR REGULATORY COMMISS1ION
[1-2tatIB edited by R•N)

SAFETY IN$PECTION R~EPORT AND COMPLIANCE INSPECTION

1. LUCENSEE/LOCATlON INSPECTED: 2. NRC/REC~1ONAL OPPICE

Engineering & Inspections Hawcaii, Inc,
P.O. Box 700217 USNRC Region IV
Kapolci, Hawaii 96709 812 East Lamar Boulevard, Suite 400

Location: 91-! 10 Hanue Street, Kapolei, Hawaii Mjington, Texas 76011-41 25

RE•PORT NUMEER(S) 2008-001
3. DOC, <E:T NUtM'BER(S•) i4. UCE.NSEE NUMBER(SI 3 . DATE(S) OF It4SPrCTION"-

LICENSEE:The inspection was an examination of the activities conducted under your license as they relate to radiation safety and to ccmp~tincawilh the Nuclear
Regubatory Commsion (NRC) niues and regualoats and the con~ditions of your li cense. The inspecion consisted ofseetlve examinalions of
procedui-s end reprentat•ver;eords•, Interviews with personnel, and obsetvatiorre by te inspector. The it apectian findings ae as fi]tiows:

1. Based on the inspe~ton findings, no violations wero identified.

fl 2. Prev~ous Violtion~s) closed.

[3 3, The violat.on(s), speclllcally described to you by the inspe.ctor as non-cited violations, are ncl:being cit~ed b•:ause they were self-idenir•ed•

non-repetitive., and corrective scilor .was or is being taken, and the remsinln2 criteria in the NRC Enforcerrent Policy to exercise discretion,
ware satistied.

_____Non-Cited Violatiorn{s) was/were discussed inwolving the following requ~rment•) adCorreciive Actloon(a):

[],. Du~ring this inspection certain of your activities, as described below and/or stiacoed. were in violation of NRC requirements and are being
cited. This form is a NOTiCE OF VIOl.ATION, which may be subject to pO0ting itn accordance 1 0 CFR I9. 11.

ftlolatlons anti Correct Actions)

Licensee's Statement of Gorrectie Actions for item 4, above.

1 hereby state hat, within 30tisys, the actions d c.ibect by ma to the inspector will be taken to co~rrect the Violation• iden~tiui ti This sttemnent of
correctiJve actions Is marie in~accordance w.ith the recijiromnents of 10O CPR 2.201 (corrective as~pe already taken, corrective steps which will be taken.
date when fuit complIance w.ill be achiaved). u nderstan that• no furtlirwritten respo•nse to NRC will os required, ,unless specifialy requested.

R'EPRESENTATIVE___
NRC INSPECTOR R. Rick Mu~ioz -'T • -• '

NRC FORM SaIM PART "• (1-2008 edited tiy RI'V



NRC FORUM 59IM PART I US. NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION
(4.20o$)
1OCFTR ~2.O

$AFETY INSPECTION REPORT AND COMPLIANCE INSPECTION

1, UENSE/LOATIN iNPECED;2. NRc/REGIOMAL OFFICE
Engineering & Inspections Hawaii, inc.
P.O. Box 700217 U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission
kapeilei, Hawai 96709 RegiOn IV, 612 East Lamer 81d, Suite 400

Location'. 91-110t Hanua Street, Kapolel, Hawaii Arlington, Texas 760114125
and 91-515 Nukuawa $f~ee! Ktapolel, Hawaii

REPORT NO: '2011-001 ______________________

3. DOtCKET NUMSER 14 U{CENSE NUMeER 15. DATE OF INSPECTION
030-3t3017 53-27731-01t Febmrary 4, 20f11

LICENSEE:
The inspeotiont was an eatamiriation of tit nottlves conducted untier YOUr license as thley retate to radiation safety anti to complianc~e with lie Nurear
Regulatory Commlaion {NRC) ruies ,ant regulations and the conditions of your lcense. The in"specion, consisied of seet~ive examinations of
procedures and representative records, intarvla'vs wi'th parsdnnel, and observations oy the fnspector. The inspection fidi~tngs are as follows:

[I, 1.Based oan the Inspection findings, fro vilatilons were IdentlfedE]2. Previous vialation(s) c~losed.

Fl3. The vlolatiorna(a), •paclfica~ty described to you by the Inspector as hnol-oiled viola~tions, are not being oiled because they were sat--
identified, non-repetitive, and corrective action was ar ia being taken, end the reinsiang criterie In the. NRC Enforcement Palicy to
e~verclse discretion, were satisfied.

U Non-Cited Violotion(s) was/were discussed involving the folloWing requirement(s) and Corrective Autlonid):

G4, Curing •lds Inspectiortoertato of your actv;ties• astiesaribed below an t/or attached, were In violation of NRG requireme~nts and are being
--J cited. This form Is a NOTICE OF VIOLATION, which may be subject to posting in accordance, with 10 C_.FR !9.1 t,

LIcensee'8 Statement of Corrective Actions for Item 4, above.
t hlereby siat.e that, Within 30 days, the actons described by me to the inspectsr will be taken to :orrect the violations iden~ijied. This snaremani of
cortrestive actions is macte in accordance with• the requirements of 1 0 CFR 2.201 (corrective stops already taken, correctve steps which vili be taken,
data when full conipllance will be achlieved). 1 uander'stand that no further written resp~onse to NRC will be required, unless speciticatiy requested.

flI te Printed Neme Sinnature Dar.e

UCEiSSEE'S
REPRESENTATIVE

NRC INSPECTOR. R. Rick MuIIoz ~ J 02114/2011
N~5VNMW~N~ftLt1 9U~(

D• Nan-Public L__ Sensitive - Security-Related X ublic Non-Sensitive



NR OM51WPART 1 U.S. NUCLA REGULATORY COMMISSION

SAF•EP! INSPECTION REPORT AND COMPLIANCE INSPECTION

1. L!CENSE.EILOCATCON INSPEcTED: 2. NRC/REGIONAL OFFICE
Engineering & Inspections Hawaii, Inc.
P.O. Box 100217 U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commis•sion
Kapolel, Hawaii 95709 Region IV, 1600 East Lamer Blvd

Arlngton, Texas 76011.45It
Lccatlons:

1) 91-110 Hanua Street, Suite 322, Kapotai, HI
2) 91-515 Nulruawa Street, Kepolel, HI
3) {TJS)- Chevron Hawaii Refin~ery

91-480 Malakolet Street
Kapolel, Havaii 96707

REPORT NO; 2013-001 ________________________
•, DOCKET NUMBER .4. LiCENSE• NUMBE-R 5, DATE• OF iNSPECV].ON

030-36017 53-27731-0t February 26-March 25, 201

The Inlepotion was a•n examination of tire acti•vItles conduct~ed unider your ilceilse as they reliate to radi~tioni safety an3d to. complipanlce wi~th the Nuclear
Regulato~r Com~mission (NRC) rules end regulations end the conditons of your licese. The Inspection consisted cf seletive aernminations of
proceduree and representative records, IntervIews with person,]el, and observatiohrs by the inspector. The Inspection findings are as follows:,

ii- i B are n inspection find!ngs, vlatin wer dni• d

-] 2. PrevIous iltina closad.
'3.The violaitons(s), specfclcly de~scribed to you by the Inspec, or us ncn-ciled violations, are not being cited bcacuse they were self.-

iderllld, non-repetillve, arid corrective ac~ton was or is being9 taken, and the remaining cdteria In the NRC Enforcement PolIcy Ia exercise

dlscrt~on, were satisfed.

Li Non.Cited ViolatIon(s) wa~s/ware discussed Involving the foloie,4ng rer~rrlrement(s) and Corr'ectve Action(s):

Fl4. Onring this inspection certain of your actIVitles, as descrbed belo-w• and/or attached, were In ,iolation of NRC requirements and are being
LJcited. Tlhis form Is a NOTICE OF VIOLATION, whioh may be 5ubject to posting In accrdance with 10 CFR 19.11,

I hereby stt that, within• 30 days, the act~ions described by ma@ to the Inspretr will betaken to correct the violattons• Irdonlitte, Thits steloeni! of
corrective actins Is rneda itt accordanc'e with the requiremnents of 10 CFR 2.201 {corTectlve ateps alreay taken, corrocsive steps which wilt be taken,

date when ful cormpliance Will be achieved), ! understand that no further written response to NRC will be required, unless apsollialty requested.

•Tils ____ Printed Name ____.. .. Signature _O ate

LICENSEE'S " 1
RE-PFRE$ENTATIVE

NRC INSPECTOR Lati~a M. Hanson I Marctr 26, 2013

BRANCH CHiEF 6 -~y~j ~ ~/ ~
0??? ?cIoOn,5,'5s.,n ~1~5?M rUOfliO~rerI1 rue y#wnIIeas.occ

D• Non-Publ c [--I Sensitive - Security.-Rolated i•Public •- Non-Sensitive
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NRC FORM,' SOIM, IPART I US., NUCL.EAR R•GULAT0RY CORMISSION4

10 CFR 2.251
SAFETY INSPEOTfON REPORT AND COMPLIANCE INSPECTION

1, LICENSEEA.OCA.TiON INSPEOTEO: 12 NRC.ReEG'ONLOFrtCE

Engineering & Inspections Iaw~aii, Inc.! usNqcReGRi iv ,
91-110 Hanua Street, •Suite 202 6t,1 FRyn e z Drive, Suite 400
Kapoiei, Hawaii Arlington, Texas 7601 14005

3. DOCKET NUMBER(S•) [4. LUCEISEE NUMBER(S) B. •iATE(SJ 0 rNBPECT•ON

03,0-36017 .... .. ,,,53r2773"1-01 .... ......... •FebruJary 08 , 2007 '. ... ..... .....

LICENSEEt
The inspection was an examnination of the actiil~ies conducted unde~r your license as they relate to ra d~on safety and to cornp nce with the
Nuclear Regulatot,,orommission (NRC) rules arrd re-gulitions and the ~c ndtiors of your tioense. The inspection consisted of selective extareiators
of preediures and repre.entative records, jlntep~tev •' lh personnel, and e •servpadons by the Inspector The inspetOn Unt~tngs.,are ae f0I~ows:

V.
1. Bas•ed on the Inspection findings, no violations were iderntled.

2, Preious violation(s) cto~d.

I" 3, The viol•ation(s), slpeciticalty described ro you b~y (ha inspctor as rron-c te vioatibns, are not bc~ing cited because they were self-Idlentified,LJnonrepetitive, and corrective action• was or is being ta err, and 1 e rerna~inl critarta in the NRC Enforcement Policy. NUREG-t100, to
cx roie discretion, wer- satisfied.

Nen-Cited VIola ion(s) wastwora discusd Invo~irin the (sowi,•ng requIrement(s) andl Correctite Action(s):

•-'i 4, D rdng tris insp otion crtai•n of you~r. ies., as described below anJi/or attached, werem in vioationc• i NRC requir-. ent•s and are being
!.-Jcited, This form Is a NOTICE OF VIOLATION. v•ttich may be subiect to postin• in accordanc-e '•t 10 CFR 19.11!.

(Violations and Coreoive Aclione)

Licensee's Stat~ement of Corrective Actions for itemn 4, above.
I hereby state that, withIn 30 days. 1h• actionas described by me to 1,he inspeto• wtil be iarert to correct the v alie~ns identifed. This statement of
rco ective a lions Is mace in accorda.o asi AI Te requt ements of 112 CFR 2.201 (o..rrec av steps atready trin, corrective steps which v 'IlI be taken,
date whe.n •itc ¢op1 nan¢ w•il b• ach•, ted)o.. und ers riodthat no iurm' at written response to NRC •,it re equire'd, untlsss s acitic.alty Lequested.

Title Prinfled Name Signature Date

REPRESENbTATIVE _.. ... ...

NRC INS ECTOR Anthony 0. Gaines ... ..... 021081200..7

NIlC FORM 521M PART I (10-2003)



NRC FoRIMi 591M, PAR'T U.S. NUCLEAJR REGUILATORY COA•M1GSION

10 CFR 2201
:SAFETY INSPECTION REPORT AND COMPLIAWCE INSPECTION

'1 LCENSEE./LOCAT!ON iNSPECTED: 12. NRCIREGIONAL OFFICE
Engineering & Inspections Hawaii, lnc.
P.O. Box 700217 iiU.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission
Kapolel, Hawaii 96709 Region IV, 612 East Lamar Bivd, Suitw 400

Location: 91-110 Hanue Street, Kapolel; Hawaii Arlington, Texas 76011-4125
and 91-515 Nukuawa Street Kepotel, Hawaii

REPORT NO: 2009-001t_______________________
3, DOCKET NUMBER 1• LICENSE NUMBER 5. DATE OF INSPECTION

030-36017 53-27731-01 December 11, 2009

LICENSEE:
The {lusp t~orr waes an ,'xaminatlon of Ihe aetivitee conducted under yor license as they relate t-o radiation safety and to compliance "with the Nuclear
Regulatory-Cormmss~on tNRC) rules and regulabons and the conditons of your licegnse. The inspection consisted ofselective examninations of
procedures and representative records, interviews with personnel, and obse=rvations by the inspector. The inspectfion findings are as follows:

1, Based on the inspection findings, no violotions were ldenti~ied.

2. Previous violat~ion(s) closed,

1l 3. The vlaIationss. (sp,•ecifically descr.bed to you by the inspector ca non-cited violations, are not bein~g cited because they ware setf-idenif~ied, non-repetitive, and c~on~ective action was or Is being taken• and the remaining criteria In the NRC Enicrcement Policy to
exercise discretion, were satisfied.

.... Non-Cited Vloltl•onts) waesAere discussed Involving the folowing requiremant(•,) end Corrective Act~cn(e):

' 4. D~udn9 this Inspecio certaln of' your actMtins, as descibed belowr and/or attacliad, were in violation of NRC requirements and are being
...... cited. This forel Is. a NOTICE OF VIOLATION, which may be subIect to posting In accordance with 10 CFR 19.11.

I hlereby state that, withitn 30 days, the actions described by me to t.he inspecror will be taken to corsect the violation~s idenlilied. This statenment of
corrective actions Is ma~de in accordance with the requitrements oft10 CFR 2.2.01 (corrective steps already taken, cosret•,ive steps whiich lwiit be taken,
date when full compliance wtil be achieved), I Understand that no further written response to NRC will be required, unless spec.,fically requested.

Tille Printed Name Sig nature Date

Li0ENSEE'S
REPRESESNTATiVE

NRC INSPECTOR R. Rick Muf'ioz

r: IJ • . . . . . .. . . . ...
NRC FORM 5~1 M PART 1 (Rev, by RIV aiuu~D Non-Public Sensitive - Seoiritv-Related



NRC FORM 591M PART I U.S, NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMM•'ISSION

SAFETY INSPECTION REPORT AND COMPLIANCE INSPECTION

I.LICENSEE./LOCATION iNSPECTED: 2, NRC/REGIONLAL OFFICE

Engineering and Inspections - Hawaii
Kapolci, Hawaii (Cahm) U.S, Nuclear Regulatory Commission

Region IV, 612 East Lamar Blvd, S~dte 400
Arlington, Texas 76011-4125

REPORT NO 2012-001 _________________________

3. DOCK(ET NUMEER ]4 LICENSE NUJMBER 5. OAq'hO IN&SPECTION

030-36017 53-27731-01 OFFebruar• 28, 2012

LICENSEE:
The inspection w~as an examination of the activitis cnduct.ed under your licornse as they relate to radiation saf•ety and to compliance with -the Nuclear
Ragu!leloiy Commission {NR0) rules and regutations end the conditions of your license. The Inspection consisted of selective esaminetions ,of
procadures ;and r'epr'esentative records, nteiviaw[s w.ith pereor tret, anld ebseifvations a)y the inspector. T'he Inspecton• findings are as (oltows:

1,Bs.on teInspection I•ndtnge, no vlltoewareIetied

D .Prev~ous violatlorie)clsed

K~3. The violaitions(s), specifically described to you by the inspector as non-cited vtiotltons, are not being cited beaucme they were sell-
i'id'entifed, non-.repetilelie, and correctve act(ion was or is hemng tatern. and th~e remaining criteria in the NRC Enforcement Policy to esari'cse

discretion, Were satisfied,

El Non-Otted Viol~at~in(s) was/were discusse invoivirig the following requirement(s) and Corrective Action{s):

i!4. During this Inspection certain of your soclyties, as describd below end/or attachedl, ,,ore In violation of NRC requirements ;and are bdrnp
cited. This form is a NOTtCE OF• VIOLATION, which in y be s•ubject to postirng In accordance wlth 10 CIFR 10,.11.

Licensee's Siatemertt of Corrective Actions for item 4, above.
I hereby state that. within 0 da•ys, the actions descr•ibed by me to the inspector wilt bce taken to correct the v~olatins identified. This statement of

corrective actJions is made in accordance with• the requirements of 10 CFR 2.201 (corrective steps already rattan, corrective steps which will be taken.
date when fuit compliance wtll be achieved). I undterstand that no tutliter written response to NRC wili be required, unless specific•ally requested.

Tilo Prtnite Name cigniture Data
LICENSEE'S ,----..- T

REPRESENTATIVE!

NRC INSPECTOR f Mar11 Poston ~ ~'~-a
BRANCI-I CHtPJ~ 0. MIchael Vasquez

I, ________

NRC FORM 591M PART I fRay, by RhV S/OP)D] Nor,-Public {• Sensitive -, Security-Rotated

S;\ONMSIINMr¶ItBPANCH FORMS',551M FORMSIPartl Publicly, Avaltabte~doc

W Public Non-•Senfsitive



Hanson, Latiacha

From: Ken McNamara [KenM.ElHawaii@Hawaiiantei.netI
Sent: Monday, March 25, 2013 8:04 PM
To: Hanson, Latischa
Subject: RE: NRC Inspection February 25, 2013 - Clear 59!

Latischa,
Thanks, I will follow up with HPD per the contact belOw.

Ken MeNamara
Engineering & Inspections Hawaii, [inc.
Tank Specialist
API-653 Cert. N'o. S73
STI SP-001 Cert. AC243i]0
K~en M4. E Hawaiifl1-awai iantel nzet

From: Hanson, Latischa Ynaitto:Latischa. Hanson~nrc.ocvl
,Sent: Monday, March 25, 2013 2:33 PM
To: ke nM.E-Hea3Lii•)ha waiian tet.net:
Subject: NRC Inspection February 25, 2013 - Clear 591

Ken

As per our telephonic discussion today. please find attached your clear NRC Form 591M which documents the
inspection performed by myself, conducted at your facility on February 25-March 1, 2013, with continued in-
house review through March 25, 2013, if you have any questions about the inspection or the 591 please call
me at (817) 200-1286 or email me at Latischa.Hanson(•rco

Kapoiei Police Department contact for LLEA update:
Major Kerry tnouye
(p08) 723-8403 - office

Please send me a response back to let me know that you received it.

Thanx,

Latischa

Lati~sJh• Ran~scr;, M,.&., Hca'•Jt Pfivs~clst
UtSNRQDNMSVr R~ion Ii)
1600 B. LnaiBfv&f
hrr~aqtott, T2( 76011-4511
(817) oo-Z8 (a ()
(87)20-1188 U)



NRC FORM 591M PART I U.S. NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMM•ISSION

10 CFR ~2,20
SAFETY INSPECTION REPORT AND COMPLIANCE INSPECTION"

1. LUCENSEEJLOCATION INSPECTED: 2. NRC/REGIONAL OFFICE

Engineering & Inspections Hawaii, 1nc. U.So.Nuclear Regulatory Commission -Region IV
P.O. Box 700217 1600 East L~amar Boulevard
Kapolel, Hawaii 96709 Arlington, Texas 76011-451

Location: 91-110 Hantia Street, suite 322, Kapolel, HI &
91-515 Nuluawa, Street; Kapolel, HI

REPORT NO: 030-3601!7/2015•00! ______________________

3. DOCKET NUMBER 4. LfCENSE NU:MBER 15, DATES OF INSPECTiION

030-36017 53-27731-01 May 13-14, 2015

LICENSEE:
The inspection was an examination of the activities conduct~ed under your iicen'se as they relate to radiation safety arnd to compl3iance with the Nuclear
Regulatory Commission (NRC) rules and regulations and the conditions of your license. The inspection consisted of selective examinations at
procedures and representative r'ecords, interviews with personnel, and observations by the inspector. The inspection findings are as follows:

SX 1. Sased on th~e inspection findings, no violations ware identifed.

X 2. Previous vlolariorrls) closed.

3, The vIolations(s), specifically described to you by th~e inspector as non-c~ited violations, are not beintg cited b:ecause they were seif-
itlentitied, non-sepethtive, and corrective action was or is being taken, and the remaining criteria in the NRC Enforcem~ent Policy to
exercise discretion, were satisfied.

Non-Cited VIolation(s) was/were discussed involving the following requirement(s) and Correotive Action(s):

4, During.this insoection cert~ain of your ectjiuttes, as described below and/or attached, were in violat~ion of NRC requifemenets and are being
cited, Th•is form is a NOTICE OF VIOLATION, which may be subj•eot o posting in accordance with !I CFR 19,1,

Licensee's Statement of Corrective Actions for Item 4, above.
! hereby state that, within 30 days, the actions described by me to the Inspector w•ill be taken to correct the violations identified. This statement of
corrective actions is made in, accordance with the requirements of 10 CFR 2.201 (corrective steps already laken, corrective steps which w~ll be takren,
date when full compliance will be achieved). I understand that no furthier writte.n response to NRC will be required, unless specifically requested.

Tit!e Printled Name Signature Date

LICENSEE'S
REPRESENTATIVE.

NRC INSPECTOR

BRANCH CHIEF

R. Rick Muihoz

G. Michael Vasquez

BLO~ 05/14/2015
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